**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

RECEIVED

Sep 27 2021

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001019

G. Allen Rutter, Petitioner,

v.

City of Columbia Design/Development Review Commission, Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Benjamin C. Bruner
Chelsea J. Clark
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
P.O. Box 61110
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 252-7693
Attorneys for Petitioner

CERTIFICATION BY COUNSEL

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD HAVE DISMISSED THIS CASE AS MOOT.
- II. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT DUE PROCESS WAS GIVEN TO PETITIONER BEFORE THE DDRC.
- III. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE DDRC'S "GUIDELINES" WERE NOT VAGUE OR INDEFINITE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns a decision reached by the City of Columbia Design/Development Review Commission ("the DDRC") that Petitioner cannot, among other things, paint his own house. The DDRC's decision was appealed to Circuit Court where it was reversed by Judge Jocelyn Newman. (R. p. 5–15.) On appeal from the Circuit Court, the Court of Appeals reversed the Circuit Court. (June 30, 2021 Opinion.) This petition follows.

This case originated about five years ago when G. Allen Rutter ("Petitioner" or "Rutter") purchased a home located at 1500 Gladden Street in the Melrose Heights neighborhood of Columbia. Shortly after purchasing the home, Rutter applied to the DDRC to paint its exterior brick. (R. p. 158). The DDRC denied that application by letter from Staci Richey on January 17, 2017, following its January 12, 2017 meeting. (R. p. 134).

On appeal to the Circuit Court, Judge Jocelyn Newman reversed the decision of the DDRC. (R. pp. 19, 14). The DDRC filed no motion to alter or amend following the May 30, 2018 final order, nor did it request a stay. Rather, it appealed the decision on June 25, 2018. (R. p. 41). The Circuit Court has held in abeyance Rutter's motion for attorney's fees and costs pending the outcome of this appeal. (R. Supp. p. 43).

On appeal, Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss for mootness asserting that he had completed the work in the intervening period between the Circuit Court’s order becoming final and the DDRC’s notice of appeal. (Sept. 24, 2018 Mot. to Dismiss.) The Court of Appeals denied the motion stating that Rutter could address the issue in his brief. (Nov. 30, 2021 Order.) The DDRC then filed a motion to strike documents designated by Rutter, which was also denied. (Mar. 15, 2019 Mot. to Strike; June 13, 2019 Order.)

Thereafter the parties completed briefing and oral arguments were held by WebEx on February 2, 2021. The Court of Appeals issued an order reversing the Circuit Court on June 30, 2021. (June 30, 2021 Opinion.) Rutter filed a petition for rehearing on July 30, 2021 and that petition was denied on August 19, 2021. (Pet. for Rehearing; Aug. 19, 2021 Order.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The DDRC is an administrative body under the umbrella of the City of Columbia that enforces its vision of how Columbia neighborhoods should look through the capricious application of uncodified, unenacted, and unrecorded “guidelines.” While City Council did enact an ordinance in 2003 creating the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District and designating the Melrose Heights neighborhood as an architectural conservation district, City Council never passed an ordinance enacting or codifying the Guidelines. (*See* R. p. 106 (the ordinance passed on the day in 2003 that does not include guidelines)).² Because the guidelines cannot be found in any of the normal places an ordinary, reasonable, and prudent homebuyer might look for laws or covenants governing their house, there is no reason for a purchaser to know that there is a local board that broadly interprets and applies guidelines to prevent local property owners

² For this reason, the Court of Appeals called the guidelines “temporary,” even though the ones at issue in this case purport to have been put into effect nearly twenty years ago. (*See* June 30, 2021 Opinion at p. 4.)

from making routine repairs or improvements to their homes. This is particularly true because many of the improvements homebuyers might wish to make, such as painting degrading brickwork, have already been done by numerous other houses in the neighborhood. (*See* R. pp. 203–08.)³

Rutter purchased the home located at the corner of Gladden Street and Webster Street in the Melrose Heights neighborhood of Columbia, South Carolina in 2016. The two-story Tudor Revival home was a vacant duplex that had fallen into disrepair. *See* YouTube, *Design/Development Review Committee: January 12, 2017* at 53:17–53:39, available at https://youtu.be/tM_qKxeZRGc.⁴ The first story is clad in brick that showed signs of wear and poor maintenance, including cracked and different colored grout. The second story is clad in painted stucco with wood accents, where the roof line allows, with the remainder of the second level covered by a shingle roof. (R. p. 167). Rutter, whose business is primarily renovation work for homeowners in Columbia, bought the house to convert the duplex to a single-family home. As part of that effort, he planned work to both the interior and exterior, including painting the damaged exterior brick. (Video at 53:39–53:58.) Rutter believed these improvements would increase the value of the property and thereby benefit the neighborhood. (*Id.*)

Prior to closing on the house, Rutter inquired to DDRC staff about the improvement he planned. The DDRC told him he could not make any changes to the exterior unless the changes complied with the Guidelines. (R. p. 159).⁵ The Guidelines are written to apply only to portions

³ The copy of these photos in the Record is poor. A better—albeit still not good—copy of these photos can be found at page 88 of “Appellant’s Brief on Appeal” .pdf filed on February 7, 2018, as included in the Public Index docket for this case.

⁴ This link directs to a video of the DDRC hearing on this matter, which has not been transcribed, but was relied on by the Court of Appeals as the record for the proceeding.

⁵ DDRC staff member stated at the meeting that this phone call addressed painting of the brick

of the house visible from the public right-of-way. With that information and some instruction from the DDRC on where to find them, Rutter consulted the Guidelines. The Guidelines “are criteria and standards that the [DDRC] must consider in determining the appropriateness of proposed work within a historic district.” (*See* R. p. 135, Section I).

The Guidelines provide that “actions that do not require review” include “Painting and Color.” (R. p. 138, Section IV(B)). Based on the language in the Guidelines, the fact that the Guidelines only apply to the exterior of the home, and the existence of numerous other painted brick homes in the neighborhood (R. pp. 203–208), Rutter reasonably concluded painting the exterior of the house did not require any review. And that was so—until the DDRC received an anonymous complaint. (*See* R. p. 159). That complaint resulted in the DDRC issuing a stop work order and demanding that Rutter apply for a certificate of design approval. Rutter acquiesced to that demand on November 16, 2016. His application sought approval to paint the brick exterior. (R. p. 158). Separately, on November 21, 2016, the City of Columbia (“the City”) issued a building permit. (R. Supp. p. 50; R. p. 107).

The DDRC hearing on January 12, 2017, was video recorded, but no transcript was taken.⁶ At the beginning of the meeting, the Chair read from a script explaining the standard DDRC procedure for each matter. For each matter called, DDRC staff was to present their opinions and recommendations first (without any time limitation). (Video at 8:58–11:15.) However, applicants who wished to present were given no more than ten (10) minutes to respond. Non-applicants who wished to speak were given only two (2) minutes. *Id.* Following those instructions, the Chair

specifically but Rutter disputes this. However, Petitioner was not given an opportunity to address this hearsay statement by staff during the hearing.

⁶ On appeal by Rutter to the Circuit Court, production of the record of its administrative proceedings was the responsibility of the DDRC. *See* Rule 75, SCRPC. The record filed with the Circuit Court by the DDRC included a DVD of the hearing, but not a transcript.

performed a mass swearing-in of all persons who wished to speak. (*Id.* at 11:22, *et seq.*) There is no record of the individuals sworn-in for the proceeding and no way for a reviewing court to determine who actually took the oath.

When Rutter's case was called, DDRC staff member Staci Richey presented the staff recommendation to deny the application. She read from a report emphasizing the stop work orders and used slides and other materials as part of her presentation. (*Id.* at 43:06–52:50.) Prior to the hearing, the DDRC had not provided Rutter any indication that his application was lacking in any way or that staff would recommend denying his application.

Realtor Russell Jones spoke on behalf of Rutter. (*Id.* at 53:00–1:03:27.) Mr. Jones pointed out the history of the house, which Rutter purchased from a California investment company that owned the home following a bank foreclosure. (*Id.* at 53:10–53:39.) The house had been abandoned and in a dilapidated state before Rutter bought it to convert it into an attractive single-family home. (*Id.* at 53:39–53:58.) Noting the specific exemption for “painting and color,” Mr. Jones argued the Guidelines should not be applied rigidly to the point of sacrificing the use, value, and future of a home. (*Id.* at 57:18–1:00:00.)⁷ Mr. Jones pointed out the poor condition of the house, including the exterior and foundation, and pointed out that the type of paint Rutter wished to apply (Loxon®) was designed to preserve masonry. (*Id.* at 53:17 and 01:17:54.) The DDRC staff did not dispute that the masonry was in poor condition when pointing out that Rutter had made that contention in his submissions to the DDRC, but the Court of Appeals stated that Rutter failed to even argue his brick was in poor condition. (*Id.* at 49:32; June 30, 2021 Opinion at pp. 4–5.)

⁷ Rutter's confusion about the application of the vague and ambiguous Guidelines was received by the DDRC and its staff as a sign of defiance. Thus, instead of working from a place of compromise, until recently, the DDRC maintained a pugnacious and antagonistic attitude towards Rutter.

Ultimately, the DDRC denied Rutter’s request to paint the house. Whether the DDRC considered the merit of his application—submitted only at the specific demand of DDRC staff—is doubtful. As Judge Newman recognized, “the DDRC appeared to heavily weigh certain factors against Appellant, including the stop work orders issued for the project. One Commissioner stated, ‘I think the fact that this work was started without approval almost makes the rest of the argument moot, honestly.’ . . . According to the meeting minutes, ‘Work began without approval and without a permit being issued and it is felt that such a precedent cannot be set.’” (R. p. 7). Following the meeting, Ms. Richey notified Rutter of the DDRC’s decision by letter. (R. p. 134). That letter contained no findings of facts or conclusions of law that can be given judicial review.

On February 10, 2017, Rutter appealed the DDRC’s decision to Circuit Court. With his appeal, Rutter requested “pre-litigation mediation” pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-915. (R. pp. 33–35). Petitioner made multiple attempts to mediate, which culminated in a single meeting where no representative of the DDRC with authority to recommend a settlement appeared. (R. pp. 226, 230). After a year of the DDRC refusing to negotiate in good faith, Rutter proceeded with the hearing of his appeal.

Judge Newman heard the appeal on February 9, 2018 and ultimately reversed the DDRC’s decision based upon errors of law. (R. pp. 8–14, 19). The DDRC filed no motion to alter or amend, nor did it request a stay from the Circuit Court. Petitioner waited until the order became final ten days after it was entered and then proceeded to paint the house and complete the project based on the Circuit Court’s order. The order was entered on May 30, 2018. (R. p. 15.) Because it was e-filed all parties would have received a Notice of Electronic Filing at the same time. The deadline for the DDRC to file a Rule 59(e) motion was June 9, 2018, but because the ten-day deadline fell on a Saturday and was therefore pushed to Monday June 11, 2018. *See* Rule 59(e),

SCRCP (setting deadline), and Rule 6(a), SCRCP (extending deadlines falling on the weekend). Because no motion to alter or amend was filed the order became final on June 11, 2018. The deadline to appeal the order fell on June 29, 2018 (thirty days after the order was entered pursuant to Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR). The notice of appeal was filed with the Court of Appeals on June 25, 2018. That left two weeks in between these two points in time during which Petitioner completed the project. There was no attempt during that time by the DDRC to stop enforcement of the Circuit Court's final order and there was no notice that there would be an appeal until June 25, 2018.

Notably, at the time Petitioner completed the work on the house, Judge Newman's order reversing the decision of the DDRC was un-appealed and was final, and the DDRC had taken no steps to stay its effect. Rutter already had a building permit, and the city ordinances did not require a building permit solely to paint a house. *See* City of Columbia Ord. § 5-51 (adopting the 2015 International Building Code); and 2015 International Building Code § 105.2 ("Permits *shall not* be required for the following:...7. Painting...and similar finish work."). The Circuit Court's order was a straight reversal; there was no remand or any other required conditions precedent to it taking effect. Therefore, no further permitting, permissions, or approval was required for Rutter to paint the house. The work cannot be easily undone.

Subsequent to commencement of this appeal, Judge Newman denied Rutter's motion for sanctions based on the DDRC's recalcitrance on the matter of mediation. (R. p. 2). Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees remains pending. (R. Supp. p. 43).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Considerations the Court may analyze in granting a petition for writ of certiorari are contained in Rule 242(b), SCACR. Matters on appeal from the DDRC to the Circuit Court and above are guided by the standard of review in S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930, which provides that the reviewing court must determine whether decision of a board of architectural review is correct as a matter of law.⁸ S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930(A); *see also Blind Tiger, LLC v. City of Charleston*, 366 S.C. 182, 185, 621 S.E.2d 361, 362 (Ct. App. 2005) (“In reviewing a decision by a board of architectural review, the Circuit Court should act when the board abuses its discretion by committing errors of law”); *Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry Cty.*, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999) (citations omitted) (“a decision of a municipal zoning board will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose, or if the board has abused its discretion”).

ARGUMENT

This case is about a series of small tyrannies that together form a significant barrier to simply property rights and basic due process. There are unenacted laws being applied to people who have no notice of them. There’s a board that took a particular dislike to Petitioner simply because he did not anticipate their interpretation of the guidelines. There’s a binding decision written by the opposing party instead of the board and containing no reviewable findings of fact or conclusions of law. There’s a party that refused to mediate the issue in good faith and tied up

⁸ In prior cases, this Court has discussed the proper evidence standard for factual findings of zoning boards. *See, e.g., Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 606 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 2004); *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville Cty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 536 S.E.2d 892 (Ct. App. 2000). However, in this case, there are no formal findings of fact that were put in writing by the DDRC.

Petitioner's house in lengthy litigation. Most recently, this appeal went through multiple years of litigation at the Court of Appeals, despite being moot.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THIS APPEAL AS MOOT.

It is well established that our appellate courts do not rule on “moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.” *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 567, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001) (citing *Jackson v. State*, 331 S.C. 486, 489 S.E.2d 915 (1997)). A case “becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy.” *Id.*, 345 S.C. at 567–68, 549 S.E.2d at 596 (quoting *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973)). “This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for the reviewing Court to grant effectual relief.” *Id.* Petitioner has made the changes to the house that he sought DDRC approval for while those changes were fully permissible under a final, un-appealed Circuit Court order. This appeal therefore has become academic.

This is demonstrated by a similar case heard by the Court of Appeals in 2018. The Board of Zoning Appeals had denied permission to Christ Central Ministries to construct a billboard. *See Christ Cent. Ministries v. City of Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 424 S.C. 358, 360, 818 S.E.2d 30, 30–31 (Ct. App. 2018). Christ Central Ministries appealed to the Circuit Court, which reversed the board's decision. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 360, 818 S.E.2d at 31. The board asked the Circuit Court to stay its order. *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 361, 818 S.E.2d at 31. The Circuit Court denied the request, and the board appealed without requesting a stay from the Court of Appeals. In the meantime, the City issued the contested permit, and the billboard was constructed.⁹ The Court held that the matter

⁹ Notably, the final order issued by Judge Tanya Gee in that case, required the city to issue a permit to effectuate the Circuit Court's order. No such instruction needed to be completed pursuant to

was moot and dismissed the appeal, relying in part on similar facts from *Seabrook v. Knox*, 369 S.C. 191, 631 S.E.2d 907 (2006). *Id.*, 424 S.C. at 361–62, 818 S.E.2d at 31–32.

When a judgment goes into effect and is carried through, the appeal of such a judgment generally becomes moot in a construction context. For instance, a New York appellate court found an appeal moot in a similar situation. *See Dreikausen v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 98 N.Y.2d 165, 774 N.E.2d 193 (Ct. App. 2002). In that case, a zoning board granted a variance for developers of condominiums against the wishes of adjacent landowners. *See id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 169–72, 774 N.E.2d at 194–96. The landowners appealed the decision but failed to seek an injunction or a stay, so work continued on the project. *Id.* The landowners did not seek injunctive relief until that matter reached the appellate courts of New York. *Id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 171–72, 774 N.E.2d at 195–96.

By the time that the matter reached New York’s top court, multiple units were complete and several more were in advanced stages of construction. *Id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 172, 774 N.E.2d at 196. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal, relying on the fact that the appellants had failed to timely seek injunctive relief. *Id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 174, 774 N.E.2d at 197–98; *see also Citineighbors Coal. of Historic Carnegie Hill v. N.Y.C. Landmarks Pres. Comm’n*, 2 N.Y.3d 727, 729, 811 N.E.2d 2, 4 (2004). In this case, the DDRC also failed to take any timely action. It cannot now unjustly demand reversal of the work, which was performed lawfully and at great expense, and further extend this litigation. This appeal is moot and should have been dismissed by the Court of Appeals.

Judge Newman’s order in this case. *See Christ Central Ministries v. City of Columbia Board of Zoning Appeals*, Case No. 2015-CP-40-03375, at p. 7 (order filed Nov. 12, 2015, S.C. Ct. of Common Pleas for Richland County).

The Court of Appeals relied on a truly hypothetical statement to support not dismissing the case as moot. The Court’s order stated that “Rutter . . . potentially faces an enforcement action” (June 30, 2021 Opinion at 5.) The Court relied in that statement upon complete conjecture, supposing that the City *might* file some other related action. But no such action has been filed, making the assertion purely speculative. Petitioner contends that relying on a hypothetical event to avoid dismissing a case for mootness is an error of law. See 4 S.C. Jur. Action § 22 (“The court should not consider and pass upon hypothetical and abstract questions, theoretical matters, or issues dependent upon the existence of facts not yet determined.”).

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