THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Nov 12 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable Jocelyn Newman
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001019

G. ALLEN RUTTER, PETITIONER,

v.

CITY OF COLUMBIA DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMISSION, RESPONDENT.

RESPONDENT'S RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

M. McMullen Taylor, S.C. Bar No. 72848
City of Columbia
Post Office Box 667
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: 803-737-4242
Email: M.Taylor@columbiasc.gov
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

"A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons." Rule 242(b), SCACR. The following factors, while not exclusive, are illustrative of the type of "special and important reasons" this Court considers when deciding to grant a writ of certiorari:

- (1) Where there are novel questions of law.
- (2) Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.
- (3) Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
- (4) Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.
- (5) Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court. Rule 242(b), SCACR

Petitioner fails to identify any special and important reason why this Court should grant review.

Instead, Petitioner seeks to impermissibly relitigate the facts of the case, contrary to the proper standard of review and rules of issue preservation. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930, "[t]he findings of fact by the board of architectural review are final and conclusive on the hearing of the appeal, and "[in] determining the questions presented by the appeal, the court must determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law." An issue of fact or law not raised before the DDRC cannot be addressed on appeal. See Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (stating that "issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge."). In his effort to cobble together what he describes in hyperbolic terms as "a series of small tyrannies," Petitioner sets forth allegations of

fact that are not only distorted, refuted, unsupported and/or irrelevant, but some of these allegations are beyond the scope of review by this Court. Petition, p. 8 – 9.

Petitioner claims that his property and due process rights were thwarted by “unenacted laws being applied to people who have no notice of them.” Mr. Rutter had actual and constructive notice of the Guidelines.² What is more, Mr. Rutter did not raise before the DDRC any question of whether the Guidelines were properly adopted; therefore, Petitioner’s claim that the Guidelines were not lawfully adopted by City Council is unreviewable by this Court.³ Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). Petitioner goes on to claim that “[t]here’s a board that took a particular dislike to Petitioner simply because he did not anticipate their interpretation of the guidelines.” Petition p. 8. Because Mr. Rutter did not raise this argument in his Final Brief to the Court of Appeals, any due process claim based on “personal dislike,” is unpreserved for review. See Rule 242(d)(2) (“Only those questions raised in the Court

² R. 159 (Staff evaluation stated that on September 30, 2016, Mr. Rutter “contacted staff with some questions about exterior changes to the building, including painting the brick exterior. Staff told [Rutter] they could not paint the brick exterior as it did not meet the guidelines and referenced review for the exterior by the D/DRC.”); Video 59:05 – 1:00:31; 1:05:44 – 1:05:54 (Mr. Rutter’s agent stating to the DDRC that prior to stop work order, Mr. Rutter assumed, upon reading the Guidelines, that he was allowed to paint the exterior without permission from the DDRC); Video 52:50 – 1:03; 1:05 – 1:07; 1:16:53 – 1:20:14 (Mr. Rutter’s agent given three opportunities to rebut staff account of informing Mr. Rutter of Guidelines before he started painting the exterior brick but did not dispute this account).

³ Even if preserved, the record includes the City’s ordinance, effective October 15, 2003, designating Melrose Heights/Oaklawn as an architectural conservation district. R. 106. Pursuant to Section 17-654(b), the procedure for creating historic protection classifications requires that guidelines for an architectural conservation district are to be presented to City Council along with an ordinance designating such a district, and the guidelines are made a material part of City Council’s enactment of a district. COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA, MUNICIPAL CODE § 17-654(b). City Council may amend the Guidelines after a public hearing is held. Id. Consistent with this procedure, the Guidelines state, in the footer of the document, that they were adopted on October 15, 2003, the same date as second reading of the ordinance creating the District. See R. 106, 135. The Guidelines were lawfully adopted in the manner prescribed under Section 17-654(b). On August 20, 2019, the City Council repealed and replaced its land development code with a new ordinance that substantially revised its land development regulations to be consistent with its new comprehensive land use plan. Under this new ordinance, all historic preservation guidelines, including those for Melrose Heights, were adopted by reference. See § 17-3.7(j)(3)(d) at <https://planninganddevelopment.columbiasc.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/COC-Unified-Development-Ordinance.pdf>.

of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court.”)

Finally, Petitioner attempts to impugn the City of Columbia by accusing the City of failing to mediate the appeal in good faith, which is not even relevant here, and in any event, the circuit court disagreed with Petitioner’s allegation of bad faith, as evidenced by the court’s denial of Petitioner’s motion for sanctions, which Petitioner did not appeal. See R. p. 79 – 104. Petitioner’s attempt to cast the City as tyrannical is simply an effort to deflect from its weak arguments for review by this Court.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the Appeal was not moot.

On appeal to the Court of Appeals, Mr. Rutter argued that the City’s appeal was mooted by his completion of the work during the two-week window of time between the circuit court order becoming final and the deadline to appeal the circuit court order. The Court of Appeals disagreed, finding that a justiciable controversy remained. The Court of Appeals committed no error in deciding that the appeal was not mooted.

“A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court.” Peterson Outdoor Advert. Corp. v. Beaufort County, 291 S.C. 533, 535, 354 S.E.2d 563, 564 (1987). Here, the relief sought by the City on appeal is to reverse the circuit court order thereby affirming the DDRC decision; that is, to uphold the DDRC decision to deny a certificate of design approval for the work Mr. Rutter had started before seeking approval from the DDRC and to require him to remove the paint on the exterior masonry. An affirmed DDRC decision would also require Mr. Rutter to restore the door and window on the

first floor that he bricked in.⁴ Further, an affirmed DDRC decision would bring about enforcement action against Mr. Rutter should he fail to comply with the DDRC decision, unless he obtains an injunction against the City, or reaches a compromise or settlement with the City in order to avoid an enforcement action. Clearly, the Court of Appeal's decision has a very real legal effect on the controversy between the parties. The City's appeal is not moot.

As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, Christ Central Ministries v. City of Columbia, 424 S.C. 358, 360, 818 S.E.2d 30 (Ct. App. 2018) is of no help to Petitioner. In Christ Central, the City of Columbia denied a request to issue a permit for erection of a billboard. Id. at 360, 31. Christ Central appealed this staff decision to the Board of Zoning Appeals. Id. The Board affirmed the staff decision. Id. Christ Central appealed to the circuit court, which reversed the Board's decision and ordered the City to issue the permit. Id. The City appealed the circuit court decision. Id. However, during the pendency of the appeal, the City issued the permit to Christ Central, id. at 361, 31, even though Rule 241(a), SCACR, automatically stayed the circuit court order requiring the City to issue the permit. Because the City had issued the permit, this Court dismissed the appeal as moot because "there is nothing more for this court to do." Id. at 362, 32. In contrast, the circuit court in this case did not order the City to issue a certificate of design approval to Petitioner in this case, and the City has not, on its own accord, issued a certificate of

⁴ Mr. Rutter may complain that requiring him to chemically remove the exterior paint and restore the first floor door and window is just too difficult to accomplish and therefore unjust or unduly harsh. However, he chose to quickly complete this work before the circuit court order was automatically stayed by virtue of the City's notice of appeal. See Rule 241(a), SCACR. Mr. Rutter's own actions put him in the position he now complains about. He knew or should have known of the risk that the City would appeal the circuit court decision and that the Court of Appeals could reverse the circuit court and affirm the DDRC decision. That he now must undo the work, when he surely understood this outcome to be a distinct possibility at the outset, is the consequence he must face for taking the risk that he did. See e.g. State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984) ("a party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.").

design approval to Petitioner. Unlike the facts in Christ Central, the City's requested relief on appeal – reversal of the circuit court decision so that the DDRC decision stands – remains as having legal effect.

Petitioner is simply wrong in his argument that the City's relief on appeal is conjecture. Rather, reversal of the circuit court order has very real consequences for Petitioner – he must undo what he raced to complete or face criminal penalty. See COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA, MUNICIPAL CODE § 17-655(a)(1) (“No construction, reconstruction, addition, alteration, relocation, repair, or demolition of any structure or site improvement ... within a ... architectural conservation district ... shall be permitted unless a certificate of design approval has been appropriately issued therefore under the terms of the standards or design guidelines as adopted by the city council.”); § 17-656 (“Any person who engages in any action for which a certificate of design approval is required under this article when such certificate is not in effect shall be in violation of this article and shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.”). A person convicted for violating Section 17-655(a)(1) shall be fined up to \$500.00 or imprisoned for not more than 30 days, and also must pay all costs and expenses involved in the case. § 17-656. “Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate offense.” Id.

Petitioner ignores this reality. Instead, Petitioner argues that, unlike the facts in Christ Central, there are no further permits or approvals, such as a building permit issued pursuant to the City's Building Code, that he needed from the City in order to proceed with the work on the Structure. The City's Building Code has no relevance here. In terms of mootness, it does not matter in this appeal whether the City's Building Code requires or does not require a building permit to paint the exterior of the Structure. In Christ Central, the appeal was mooted because

the City voluntarily agreed to issue the billboard permit that was the subject of its appeal. Christ Central, 424 S.C. 358, 361, 818 S.E.2d 30, 31 (Ct. App. 2018). In contrast, the DDRC has not reconsidered its denial of a certificate of design approval for the Property, much less granted a certificate of design approval. Petitioner's argument about a building permit accomplishes nothing because a building permit is not the subject of this appeal. Even if this Court considers Petitioner's argument, the lack of a building permit requirement for exterior painting has no effect on the City's requirement that "no construction, reconstruction, ... alteration, ... repair, or demolition of any structure or site improvement ... within a ... architectural conservation district ... shall be permitted unless a certificate of design approval has been appropriately issued therefore under the terms of the standards or design guidelines as adopted by the city council." COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA, MUNICIPAL CODE § 17-655(a)(1). Under Section 102.2 of the 2015 International Building Code adopted by the City, "[t]he provisions of this code shall not be deemed to nullify any provisions of local, state or federal law." See 2015 International Building Code at https://up.codes/viewer/south_carolina/ibc-2015/chapter/1/scope-and-administration#divider_1. Indeed, under Section 17-655(a), "[a] certificate of design approval shall be required whether or not a building permit is required." COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA, MUNICIPAL CODE § 17-655(a).

Petitioner's alternative argument that he already obtained a building permit likewise is of no import in this appeal. See R. 107; App. 50. The issued building permit dealt with interior improvements to the electrical, plumbing, mechanical and gas systems of the Structure. R. 108. The permit had no bearing on painting the exterior masonry or removing windows. Further, the building permit states that Mr. Rutter, as the applicant, "understands that the issuance of this

permit does not constitute a privilege to violate any applicable government ordinances, codes or laws ...” App. R. 50. A building permit does not give Petitioner a free pass to ignore restrictions on construction, alteration, or repair of structures within the Melrose Heights/Oaklawn Architectural Conservation District, nor does it do away with applicable enforcement mechanisms should Petitioner disregard the DDRC decision upheld by the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner’s reliance on a New York case, Driekausen v. Zoning Board of Appeals of City of Long Beach, does not work in his favor. 98 N.Y.2d 165, 169, 172, 774 N.E.2d 193 (2002). In Driekausen, adjacent landowners challenged a variance granted to a developer to build condominiums and a marina. Id. at 171. About five months later, the lower court affirmed the grant of the variance. Id. Landowners did not seek a stay or injunction during the pendency of their appeal heard by the lower court. Id. Instead, about ten days later, they sought injunctive relief when they filed notice of appeal with the appellate court. Id. The Court denied the requested injunctive relief. Seven months later, the appellate court affirmed the lower court’s decision. Id. at 172. By the time the New York Court of Appeals granted leave to appeal three months later, the developer had already built twelve of the twenty permitted units. Id. The Landowners sought an injunction requiring the developer to demolish the construction it had completed. Id. The developer argued mootness based upon substantial completion of the project. Id.

The Court of Appeals explained that any “race to completion [by the developer] cannot be determinative, and cannot frustrate appropriate administrative review” Id. at 172. Instead, the court turned to several factors that New York courts consider in determining whether a case involving substantial completion was moot: whether the challengers sought a stay or injunctive

relief, whether the respondent acted in bad faith or without authority in completing the work, whether novel issues or public interests warrant continuing review, and whether the challenged work is readily undone, without undue hardship. Id. at 173. Applying these factors to the facts of the case, the court ruled that the case was mooted by the developer's substantial completion of the construction because the Landowners did not seek a stay from the lower court, the developer did not act in bad faith or without authority, and the public benefited from the construction. Id. at 174.

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